Case 2020AP002006 Appellant's Brief Filed 02-23-2021 Page 1 of 25

FILED
02-23-2021
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III CASE NO. 20 AP 2006 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

CHRISTINA MARIE WIEDERIN,

Defendant-Appellant.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

DOAR, DRILL & SKOW, S.C.

Katie J. Bosworth (#1099686) 103 N. Knowles Ave. P.O. Box 388 New Richmond, WI 54017-0388 (715) 246-2211

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant Christina Marie Wiederin

On appeal from the Circuit Court for St. Croix County, Case No. 19CF44 Honorable R. Michael Waterman, presiding.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- **1.** Did the circuit court err in finding that the warrantless search of Defendant-Appellant's blood was justified based on the exigency exception to the warrant requirement?
- **2.** If not exigency, was the warrantless search of Defendant-Appellant's blood justified by the good-faith exception to the warrant requirement?

Case 2020AP002006 Appellant's Brief Filed 02-23-2021 Page 8 of 25

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Accident.

At 11:10 P.M. on December 21, 2018, St. Croix County dispatch center received a report of a wrong way driver travelling westbound in the eastbound lane of traffic on Highway 35/64 in Somerset, Wisconsin. (R. 227 at 5:25 – 6:4.) Highway 35/64 is a divided highway with a concrete median separating the eastbound and westbound lanes. (R. 227 at 6:5-8.) At 11:17 P.M., dispatch received a report of a motor vehicle accident involving the wrong way driver on Highway 35/64. (R. 227 at 6:13-18.)

Within one minute of the accident, at 11:18 P.M., St. Croix County Sheriff's Deputy Jeff Hillstead arrived at the scene. (R. 227 at 12:16-21.) Hillstead was the first law enforcement officer to arrive. (R. 227 at 6:21-23.)

When Hillstead arrived, he went to speak to the driver of the black car involved in the accident, which was the car that was reportedly driving the wrong way on the highway. (R. 227 at 8:22-25.) The driver was pinned in the driver's seat of her vehicle. (R. 227 at 19:17-19.) There was no other person in her car. (R. 227 at 19:20-21.) It was clear immediately who was driving the black car, because she was still trapped in it from the moment officers arrived on scene. (R. 227 at 19:22 – 20:5.) In addition, witnesses on scene reported seeing the black vehicle travelling westbound in the eastbound lane collide head-on with another vehicle. (R. 227 at 8:10-23; 39:6-8.)

Almost immediately upon arriving on scene, officers realized that the driver of the other vehicle involved in the accident was deceased. (R. 227 at 38:6-22.)

Evidence of Impairment.

Within 5 minutes of Hillstead arriving on scene, or roughly at 11:23 P.M., he had a conversation with the driver of the black car. (R. 227 at 15:17-23.) The driver was conscious and advised Hillstead that she had consumed alcohol prior to driving, but she did not know how much she consumed. (R. 227 at 10:1-11, 15:24-16:2.) While speaking with her, Hillstead noticed she had slow and wavering speech. (R. 227 at 15:24-16:7.)

Hillstead identified the driver as Christina Marie Wiederin. (R. 227 at 9:1-3.) He identified her by looking in her vehicle for an identification card of some kind. (R. 227 at 10:23-25.) While doing so, he discovered a black and silver drawstring bag on the floor. (R. 227 at 10:25.) At that time, he did not inspect the

Case 2020AP002006 Appellant's Brief Filed 02-23-2021 Page 9 of 25

bag further or take it out of the vehicle to examine it, but he did see there was a bottle sticking out of the top of the bag. (R. 227 at 17:4-24.)

Ms. Wiederin was conscious the entire time she was at the scene of the accident and had multiple conversations with officers on scene. (R. 227 at 10:1-4; 20:6-15; 20:25 – 21:2; 23:23-25.) At 12:16 A.M. on December 22, 2018, Ms. Wiederin was extricated from her vehicle and transported by ambulance to Regions Hospital in St. Paul, Minnesota. (R. 227 at 42:25 – 43:2; 55:24 – 56:1.) Sgt. Thomas Williams left the scene at that time to follow Ms. Wiederin to the hospital. (R. 227 at 44:22 – 45:4.) He did so with the intent to obtain a sample of her blood for evidentiary purposes. (R. 227 at 44:7-10.) On the way to the hospital, Williams stopped at the St. Croix County Sheriff's Office to obtain a Wisconsin blood draw kit. (R. 227 at 44:22 – 45:2.)

After Ms. Wiederin was extricated from her vehicle, Deputy Hillstead inspected the drawstring bag he had noticed earlier. (R. 227 at 17:4-24.) The bag contained a bottle of Captain Morgan rum, which was half full, and a two liter bottle of diet coke. (R. 227 at 11:1-3.) At this time, Hillstead also discovered in Wiederin's center console a plastic sandwich baggy with the odor of marijuana, and a metal one-hitter pipe suspected to be used for marijuana. (R. 227 at 11:4-7.) After discovering these items, Hillstead called Sgt. Williams on the phone to advise him of these discoveries. (R. 227 at 18:7-20.) Sgt. Williams was on his way to Regions when he took the call from Hillstead. (R. 227 at 18:16-20.) Hillstead made the phone call informing Williams of the foregoing items discovered in the Wiederin vehicle at approximately 12:20 or 12:30 A.M. (R. 227 at 18:12-15.)

Other than discovery of the items in her vehicle and observing and speaking with Wiederin on scene, officers did not discover any additional evidence indicating impairment. (R. 227 at 27:21-28:22.) In other words, all evidence gathering efforts were completed by approximately 12:30 A.M., before Sgt. Williams arrived at the hospital.

The Blood Draw.

At approximately 1:05 A.M., Sgt. Williams arrived at Regions Hospital. (R. 227 at 45:5-6.) Upon arrival at the hospital, Williams was told that Ms. Wiederin was in the hospital imaging department, and that he could not obtain a blood sample from her during this process. (R. 227 at 45:8-12.) He proceeded to wait at the hospital for almost an hour. (R. 227 at 57:9-15.) He had the technological capability to apply for a warrant while waiting at Regions, but made no effort to. (R. 227 at 54:12-14; 58:20-23.)

Case 2020AP002006 Appellant's Brief Filed 02-23-2021 Page 10 of 25

By the time he spoke to a nurse again who allowed him to speak with Ms. Wiederin to conduct a blood draw, Wiederin had been administered drugs that were causing her to lose consciousness. (R. 227 at 47:5-10.) Sgt. Williams began reading Ms. Wiederin the Wisconsin Implied Consent form just before 2:00 A.M. (R. 227 at 56:21 – 57:8.) However, by the time he finished reading the form, Ms. Wiederin's eyes were closed and she appeared to be unconscious. (R. 227 at 50:22 – 51:7.) Wiederin did not verbalize consent to the blood draw. (*Id.*) Nonetheless, the officer directed the Regions Nurse to take a sample of Ms. Wiederin's blood and said sample was taken at 2:00 A.M. (R. 227 at 51:8-11, 18-20.)

The Failure to Obtain a Warrant.

Prior to responding to the accident, Sgt. Williams researched procedures for obtaining warrants for blood draws in Minnesota. (R. 227 at 52:16-25.) Knowing that Ms. Wiederin would be transported to Regions Hospital in St. Paul, Minnesota, during the 59 minutes between the time of the initial accident report and Wiederin's extraction from her motor vehicle, Sgt. Williams again researched the procedures to apply for and obtain a warrant in Minnesota. (R. 227 at 55:2-23.) He discovered that the first step was to draft a warrant. (R. 227 at 59:1-6.) A warrant application is drafted electronically from his squad vehicle. (R. 227 at 22:17 – 23:7; 58:20 – 59:11.) After that, he was to contact the St. Paul Police Department Watch Commander, who would walk him through the next steps and assist with submitting and obtaining a warrant electronically. (*Id.*) Despite having taken time before responding to the scene and while at the scene to research the procedure, and despite sitting and waiting at the hospital for nearly an hour, he made no effort to undertake any step in the process. (R. 227 at 52:1-3.)

Sgt. Williams explained that the reason he never tried to apply for a warrant was because the preferred procedure was to first ask Ms. Wiederin for consent, and then if she refused consent to apply for a warrant. (R. 227 at 52:1-12.) However, he also testified that in applying for a Wisconsin warrant, he could have included an explanation in the warrant affidavit that he had not had an opportunity to speak with the suspect to ask for consent, but he was applying for a warrant now based on all the information he had (because there was a risk the suspect would lose consciousness.) (R. 227 at 59:23 - 60:6.) He offered no reason why he could not include the same explanation in a Minnesota warrant application. (R. 227 at 60:7-14.)

Sgt. Williams also had no knowledge as to how long it would have taken to obtain a search warrant for Ms. Wiederin's blood using the Minnesota warrant procedures for out of state officers. (R. 227 at 59:18-20.)

Case 2020AP002006 Appellant's Brief Filed 02-23-2021 Page 11 of 25

The Lack of Emergent Circumstances.

Ultimately, six law enforcement officers arrived on scene in total: four St. Croix County Sheriff's Deputies (Dep. Hillstead, Sgt. Coleman, Sgt. Kennett, and Sgt. Williams) and two Somerset Police Officers (Officers Olson and Trepczyk). (R. 227 at 6:24 – 7:2, 13:3-16, 14:2-4.)

After Ms. Wiederin was extricated from her vehicle at approximately 12:16 A.M., the chaos and emergent situation had dissipated significantly. (R. 227 at 22:3-13.) Things had "slowed down" according to Hillstead. (R. 227 at 11:19-25, 12:1-8.)

None of the officers that were on scene that night made any effort to obtain a search warrant for Ms. Wiederin's blood. (R. 227 at 22:14-16, 37:8-23.)

The Appeal.

On September 13, 2019, Wiederin made a motion to suppress the unlawful search of her blood without a warrant. (R. 51.) On October 29, 2019, a hearing was held on said motion. (*See* R. 227.) On December 27, 2019, the Circuit Judge issued a written decision denying the Motion to Suppress, finding that exigent circumstances justified the warrantless blood draw. (R. 82; App. at 9.)

On May 15, 2020, Ms. Wiederin pled No Contest to First Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety, a Class F felony, and Homicide by Vehicle, Use of Controlled Substance (THC), a Class D Felony, pursuant to a plea agreement whereby the State was bound to not seek more than 9 years' incarceration at sentencing. (*See* R. 229 at 8:2-7.) At the sentencing hearing on June 24, 2020, the State asked the Judge to sentence Ms. Wiederin to 9 years of initial confinement. (R. 230 at 27:6-9.) The State's sentencing expert recommended in its pre-sentence investigation report that the Judge sentence Ms. Wiederin to somewhere between 7-10 years of initial confinement. (R. 174 at 37.) The defense and the defense's sentencing expert advocated for a sentence of 1-3 years of initial confinement with the maximum extended supervision period of 15 years. (R. 230 at 112:17-24.) The Circuit Judge ignored the parties' recommendations for sentencing and sentenced Ms. Wiederin to the maximum term in prison of 15 years, with no eligibility for treatment programming or early release. (R. 230 at 135:6-20; 136:23-24); (R. 213; App. 1-4.)

Wiederin appealed the circuit court's denial of her motion to suppress. (R. 221.) Wiederin submits this brief in support of her request for appellate relief, as the circuit court erred in finding that exigency justified the warrantless search of her blood. Wiederin asks this Court to overturn the circuit court's denial of her suppression motion.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Appellate Court applies a two-step standard of review when reviewing a motion to suppress evidence. *See State v. Eason*, 2001 WI 98, ¶ 9, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625. First, the circuit court's findings of fact are upheld unless clearly erroneous. *See id.* Next, the circuit court's application of constitutional principles is reviewed *de novo*. *See id.* In this appeal, Defendant-Appellant challenges the circuit court's application of constitutional principles to the facts. 1

II. GOVERNING CONSTITUTIONAL PRINCIPLES.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution prohibit unreasonable searches and seizures. *State v. Phillips*, 577 N.W.2d 794, 218 Wis. 2d 180, 195 (1998). The U.S. Supreme Court has explained the reason for the proscription against unreasonable searches and seizures is that "[t]he integrity of an individual's person is a cherished value of our society." *United States v. Schmerber*, 384 U.S. 757, 772 (1966). "Search warrants are ordinarily required for searches of dwellings, and, absent an emergency, no less could be required where intrusions into the human body are concerned." *Id.* at 772. As such, a blood draw for evidentiary purposes is a Fourth Amendment search that necessitates a warrant, unless the particular facts of the case provide some acknowledged exception to the warrant requirement. *Id.* at 770.

"The State bears the burden of proving that the warrantless search falls within one of these narrowly drawn exceptions." *See e.g. State v. Rome*, 2000 WI App 243, ¶ 11, 239 Wis.2d 491, 620 N.W.2d 225.

Under the exigent circumstances exception, a warrantless search is allowed only when "there is compelling need for official action and <u>no time</u> to secure a warrant." *Michigan v. Tyler*, 436 U.S. 499, 509 (1978) (emphasis added.)

The mere dissipation of alcohol is not a sufficient basis alone to permit a warrantless blood draw on grounds of the exigency exception to the warrant requirement. *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. 141, 156 (2013). "In those drunkdriving investigations where police officers can reasonably obtain a warrant before a blood sample can be drawn without significantly undermining the efficacy of the search, the Fourth Amendment mandates that they do so." *Id.* at 152.

_

¹ The only quasi-factual finding that Defendant-Appellant takes issue with is the circuit court's finding that some practical circumstance prevented Sgt. Williams from applying for a warrant while he was waiting at Region's Hospital. *See infra*, pages 15-16.

Consider, for example, a situation in which the warrant process will not significantly increase the delay before the blood test is conducted because an officer can take steps to secure a warrant while the suspect is being transported to a medical facility by another officer. In such a circumstance, there would be no plausible justification for an exception to the warrant requirement.

Id.

Moreover, the fact that the suspected impaired driver is unconscious in and of itself does not justify a warrantless blood draw, though it is often a factor. In order to justify a warrantless blood draw, even of an unconscious person, the proper analysis centers on whether exigency justified the search. See Mitchell v. Wisconsin, 139 S. Ct. 2525 (2019).

"Whether a warrantless blood test of a drunk-driving suspect is reasonable determined case by case based on the totality circumstances." McNeely, 569 U.S. 141 at 156.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS ON GROUNDS OF **EXIGENCY.**

A. No Practical Problems Existed So As To Prevent Officers From Obtaining A Warrant Within A Timeframe That Afforded Officers The **Opportunity To Gather Reliable Evidence.**

It is important to note that just because there is an accident or an emergent and chaotic situation that officers are dealing with in a drunk driving investigation does not automatically mean there is exigency for purposes of the Fourth Amendment. Exigency in the Fourth Amendment context means that there was some practical and specific reason that officers could not obtain a warrant within a timeframe that ensured they could still gather reliable evidence (i.e. obtain blood whose alcohol contents had not dissipated significantly). McNeely, 569 U.S. 141 at 152.

> i. All information relevant to probable cause of impairment was obtained within moments of police arrival on scene.

This is not a case where the circumstances required additional time to investigate to gather probable cause.² Compare State v. Tullberg, 2014 WI 134, ¶

² Defendant-Appellant is not conceding that there was sufficient probable cause for a warrant for the blood draw. That is not something that can be conceded, as it is a Judge's function to decide such issues. Whether a Judge would have granted such a warrant upon proper application

Case 2020AP002006 Appellant's Brief Filed 02-23-2021 Page 14 of 25

44, 359 Wis. 2d 421, 447, 857 N.W.2d 120, 133 (finding exigency existed where the investigating officer did not have probable cause to believe the suspected drunk driver operated a motor vehicle until almost three hours after the accident, because it was not until that point that the officer knew that defendant that operated the vehicle). In *Tullberg*, the officer came upon a motor vehicle accident and the defendant was not present at the scene. *Id.* at ¶¶ 45-46. No witnesses were available to be interviewed about who was operating the vehicles involved in the accident. Id. at \P 45. The defendant had apparently left the scene of the accident, went to his mother's house, then went to a hospital in another county, causing significant delay for the officer in terms of locating and interviewing the defendant about who was driving. Id. at ¶ 46. Once the officer finally tracked the defendant down, the defendant lied to the officer about driving, and the officer had to spend additional time locating and interviewing other witnesses before he could determine the driver of the vehicle involved was in fact the defendant. Id. at \P 47. By the time the officer had probable cause to believe the defendant operated a vehicle while impaired, almost three hours had passed from the time of the accident. Id. In that situation, the Wisconsin Supreme Court found exigency justified the warrantless blood draw. because the officer was in a situation where he could not obtain reliable evidence³ if he put off a blood draw any further by applying for a warrant. *Id.* at ¶¶ 50-51. Importantly, the Court specifically noted that, unlike this case, the investigating officer did not improperly delay in obtaining a warrant. *Id.* at ¶ 44. Rather, through no fault of his own, he merely did not obtain the necessary probable cause to indicate drunk driving had occurred until nearly three hours after the accident.

In the case at hand, there was no question upon Hillstead's arrival at the scene that Ms. Wiederin was operating a motor vehicle involved in the accident, as she was still pinned in the driver's seat of her vehicle. Her vehicle also matched the description of the wrong way driver reported moments earlier. Witnesses at the scene, spoken to within moments of officers' arrival, pointed out Ms. Wiederin's vehicle and explained that that was the vehicle they saw drive at high speeds the wrong way down the highway and collide with the decedent's vehicle. Within minutes of arriving at the scene, Hillstead spoke with Ms. Wiederin and obtained an

-

is irrelevant. The issue here is whether the State can prove an exception to the warrant requirement justified the otherwise illegal blood draw. In conducting such an analysis, it is not proper to make an argument that the warrant would have been granted anyhow, so the warrantless blood draw was therefore permissible. Such an argument, if engaged in by the Courts, would erode Fourth Amendment protections altogether.

All efforts to gather probable cause were concluded by 12:30 A.M. at the very latest. (R. 227 at 18:7-20; 27:21-28:22.) No additional evidence relevant to impairment was gathered after this point and therefore it cannot be said that additional time was needed to investigate probable cause.

³ Because of the dissipation of alcohol in the bloodstream over time.

Case 2020AP002006 Appellant's Brief Filed 02-23-2021 Page 15 of 25

admission that she had consumed alcohol prior to driving. He also observed her behavior to be indicative of drinking (the slow and wavering speech). Finally, he observed what he believed could be an open container of alcohol in the vehicle. Officers had all the information needed to apply for a warrant within five minutes of the accident. There was no circumstance here, as in *Tullberg*, that required additional time to investigate.

ii. Multiple officers were on scene and available to apply for a warrant.

This is not a case where only one officer was available to investigate, secure the scene, gather evidence, and provide emergency medical assistance. *Compare State v. Howes*, 2017 WI 18, ¶¶ 5, 45, 373 Wis. 2d 468, 497, 893 N.W.2d 812, 826, *cert. denied*, 138 S. Ct. 138, 199 L. Ed. 2d 82 (2017). There were six officers on scene at the crash.

By 12:30 A.M., after officers confirmed an open container of alcohol and suspected marijuana were in the vehicle, all evidence-gathering activities, including obtaining witness statements and searching the various vehicles, had ceased. But for obtaining Wiederin's blood alcohol concentration, the investigation had essentially concluded.

Also by 12:30 A.M., Ms. Wiederin had left the scene by ambulance, with Sgt. Williams following behind. Because the victim was deceased, after Wiederin began transport all emergency medical personnel left the scene.

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