FILED
06-02-2021
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2020AP2006-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHRISTINA MARIE WIEDERIN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE ENTERED IN THE ST. CROIX COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE R. MICHAEL WATERMAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

But while *Hay* says that exigency analysis is not always limited to the time after a drunk driving suspect refuses a blood draw, it does not say that "if there is time to apply for and obtain a warrant at any point in time during a drunk driving investigation . . . the officer must do so." (Wiederin's Br. 16.) The court of appeals said, "It is important to point out the limited nature of our holding in this case." Hay, 392 Wis. 2d 845, ¶ 26. The court explained that "based upon the unique facts of this case, a reasonable officer would have known right at the time of Hay's arrest that time was of the essence and there likely would not be sufficient time to procure a warrant after a refusal at the hospital." Id. But if the facts of the case had been different, "it would have been reasonable for [the officer] to wait until after he requested a blood sample from Hay at the hospital before considering applying for a warrant in the event Hay refused, because with

Case 2020AP002006 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-02-2021 Page 23 of 33

a significantly higher PBT reading, a reasonable officer would know he would still have sufficient time if Hay refused to then seek a warrant." *Id*.

Here, Sergeant Williams had no reason to believe at the crash scene that if officers did not obtain a blood sample before Wiederin was transported—i.e., when she was trapped in the vehicle—that they would be unable to obtain a sample. Therefore, once medical personnel at the scene said they would not draw blood in the ambulance, Sergeant Williams went to the hospital to which Wiederin was transported.

When Sergeant Williams arrived at the hospital, he reasonably intended to give the then-conscious Wiederin an opportunity to either agree to give a blood sample and confirm the consent she had impliedly given by driving in Wisconsin or refuse and withdraw that consent. If she agreed to a blood test, there would be no need for a warrant. If she refused, there would be a need for a warrant. And unlike in *Hay*, there likely would be time to obtain a warrant.

However, once Sergeant Williams arrived at the hospital, the circumstances changed. As the circuit court recognized, Sergeant Williams learned after he arrived at the hospital that medical personnel would not draw Wiederen's blood while she was in imaging but could do so once she was out of imaging. (R. 227:45.) But he was later told that once Wiederin was out of imaging, she would be taken to surgery, and medical personnel would not draw her blood for police purposes while she was in surgery. (R. 227:46, 56–57.) Sergeant Williams told a nurse about the seriousness of the case and the need for a blood draw, so the nurse called another nurse who was with Wiederin in imaging and arranged for Sergeant Williams to go to imaging and speak to Wiederin before she went into surgery, and for a blood draw if Wiederin agreed to give a sample. (R. 227:46–47.)

Case 2020AP002006 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-02-2021 Page 24 of 33

As the circuit court recognized, had Sergeant Williams not been there while Wiederin was in imaging, spoken to the nurse at exactly the right time, and then been there immediately before Wiederin was about to go into surgery, he would not have been able to obtain a blood sample. Indeed, Wiederin's entire argument seems to assume (incorrectly) that her blood could have been drawn at any point once she was admitted to the hospital. But that was not the case. Sergeant Williams faced a dynamic and changing situation and he had no way of knowing, in advance, that there would be such a limited window of time in which to complete a blood draw.

The circuit court recognized the situation Sergeant Williams faced. It concluded that "[o]nly with the benefit of hindsight can one see that Deputy Williams waited an hour." (R. 82:4.) The court recognized that Deputy Williams did not know he would be waiting for an hour. He only knew that medical staff would not let him speak to Wiederin while she was in imaging, so he needed to wait until she was out of imaging. (R. 82:4.)

circuit court noted that "[u]nder normal circumstances in Wisconsin, a deputy needs 30 minutes just to complete a warrant application; that does not include the time it takes to contact a judge and have him or her review it." (R. 82:4.) And the court noted "[i]t is unclear how long the process takes in Minnesota or whether Deputy Williams could have done it all from the hospital. In any event, after the paperwork was ready, Deputy Williams needed to contact the St. Paul Police Watch Commander who would connect him to an officer who would help find a Ramsey County judge." (R. 82:4.) The court recognized that taking time to apply for a warrant could have had "terrible collateral costs," because "[a]ny of these tasks easily would have diverted Deputy Williams' attention away from Ms. Wiederin at the expense of Case 2020AP002006 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-02-2021 Page 25 of 33

missing the brief opportunity to see her before she went into surgery," leaving her "beyond the reach of the law, presumably for hours." (R. 82:4.)

The timing of events left Sergeant Williams in a very difficult position. He could either attempt to get a warrant that in all likelihood he would not have been able to obtain in time to get a blood sample or wait to ask Wiederin for consent. As the circuit court recognized, in all likelihood, had Sergeant Williams not waited to see Wiederin but instead had diverted his attention to apply for a warrant, he would not have been present when Wiederin was done in imaging and about to go into surgery. And if he had not been present at that moment, he would not have been able to get a blood sample. Had he returned with a warrant, it likely would have been too late. After all, nearly three hours had passed since Wiederin's crash, and she was about to go into surgery. There is no way to know, even now, with the benefit of hindsight, how long it would have taken to get a blood sample had Sergeant Williams not been present, and how much the alcohol in Wiederin's system would have dissipated. And Sergeant Williams could not reasonably have asked the nurse to have medical personnel draw Wiederin's blood before he asked for her consent or had a warrant, because unless she either refused or was unconscious there would not have been exigent circumstances.

Wiederin seems to suggest that if there was time to apply for a warrant for a blood sample before her blood was actually drawn, an officer was required to apply for one even if doing so meant that there may not have been an opportunity to obtain the blood sample. (Wiederin's Br. 17–18.) But an officer is not required to obtain a warrant when doing so would threaten the destruction of the evidence. *McNeely*, 569 U.S. at 150; *Schmerber*, 384 U.S. at 770.

Case 2020AP002006 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-02-2021 Page 26 of 33

Here, as the circuit court recognized, taking to time to apply for a warrant would have threatened the destruction of evidence because Sergeant Williams may not have been at the right place at the only time the evidence could be gathered. Sergeant Williams acted reasonably in seeking Wiederin's consent for a blood sample. And when Wiederin was unconscious or otherwise incapable of either agreeing to give a sample or refusing, Sergeant Williams acted reasonably in directing that Wiederin's blood be drawn because of exigent circumstances.

II. Even if exigent circumstances did not justify the blood draw, the blood test results were properly not suppressed because an officer could have relied in good faith on the implied consent law as justifying the blood draw.

As the circuit court correctly concluded, the results of Wiederin's blood test were admissible because the blood draw was justified by exigent circumstances. This court should affirm on that ground. If it does, it has no need to address whether the officer could have relied in good faith on the implied consent law in obtaining a blood sample. The good faith exception "becomes germane" only when a warrant exception does not apply. *State v. Richards*, 2020 WI App 48, ¶ 49 n.8, 393 Wis. 2d 772, 948 N.W.2d 359. But if this Court were to conclude that the blood draw was not justified by exigent circumstances, it should still affirm, because the implied consent law justified the warrantless blood draw.

A. The good faith exception to the exclusionary rule applies when evidence is obtained pursuant to a statute that has not been found unconstitutional.

"When evidence is obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment, the judicially developed exclusionary rule usually precludes its use in a criminal proceeding against the victim of the illegal search and seizure." *Illinois v. Krull*, 480 U.S. 340, 347 (1987). However, "[t]he exclusionary rule is a judicially created remedy, not a right, and its application is restricted to cases where its remedial objectives will best be served." *State v. Dearborn*, 2010 WI 84, ¶ 35, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97 (citing *Herring v. United States*, 555 U.S. 135, 700 (2009); *Arizona v. Evans*, 514 U.S. 1, 10–11 (1995)). The exclusionary rule does not apply to all constitutional violations. *Id.* Instead, "exclusion is the last resort." *Id.*

The good faith exception provides that the exclusionary rule should not apply when officers act in good faith. *Id.* ¶36. "To trigger the exclusionary rule, police conduct must be sufficiently deliberate that exclusion can meaningfully deter it, and sufficiently culpable that such deterrence is worth the price paid by the justice system." *Dearborn*, 327 Wis. 2d 252, ¶ 36 (quoting *Herring*, 555 U.S. at 702). "[T]he exclusionary rule serves to deter deliberate, reckless, or grossly negligent conduct, or in some circumstances recurring or systemic negligence." *Id.* (quoting *Herring*, 555 U.S. at 702).

In *Krull*, the United States Supreme Court held that the good faith exception applies when an officer acts in good faith reliance on a statute that is later determined to be unconstitutional. The Court reasoned that "[t]he application of the exclusionary rule to suppress evidence obtained by an officer acting in objectively reasonable reliance on a statute would have as little deterrent effect on the officer's actions as would the exclusion of evidence when an officer acts in

Case 2020AP002006 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-02-2021 Page 28 of 33

objectively reasonable reliance on a warrant." *Krull*, 480 U.S. at 349. "If the statute is subsequently declared unconstitutional, excluding evidence obtained pursuant to it prior to such a judicial declaration will not deter future Fourth Amendment violations by an officer who has simply fulfilled his responsibility to enforce the statute as written." *Id.* at 350.

B. The unconscious driver provision in Wisconsin's implied consent law justified the blood draw in this case.

Under Wisconsin's implied consent law, a person who drives on a Wisconsin highway is deemed to have consented to an officer's lawful request for a blood sample. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(2). Under the unconscious driver provision in the statute, a person who is unconscious or otherwise incapable of withdrawing their consent is presumed not to have done so, and a sample may lawfully be drawn. The statute reads, in relevant part:

A person who is unconscious or otherwise not capable of withdrawing consent is presumed not to have withdrawn consent under this subsection, and if a law enforcement officer has probable cause to believe that the person has violated [an OWI-related statute] . . . one or more samples specified in par. (a) or (am) may be administered to the person.

Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(b).

The blood draw from Wiederin was authorized by Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(b). There is no dispute that Wiederin operated a motor vehicle on a public highway. There is no serious dispute that there was probable cause that she did so while she was under the influence of an intoxicant, while she had a prohibited alcohol concentration, or while she had a detectable presence of a restricted controlled substance in her blood. And there is no dispute that Wiederin was unconscious

or otherwise incapable of giving or withdrawing her consent to a blood draw when Sergeant Williams lawfully requested a sample. (R.82:2). Therefore, a blood draw could be administered under section 343.305(3)(b).

This Court found the unconscious driver provision on in Wisconsin's implied consent law unconstitutional June 25, 2020 in State v. Prado, 2020 WI App 42, 393 Wis. 2d 526, 947 N.W.2d 182. But when Wiederin's blood was drawn early in the morning of December 22, 2018 (R. 14:4), no appellate court had found the statute constitutional.⁵ The blood draw from Wiederin in 2018 was justified by the unconscious driver provision in Wisconsin's implied consent law, and Sergeant Williams could have relied in good faith on the statute in directing that Wiederin's blood be drawn. And since the statute has been found unconstitutional, suppressing the blood test results in this case would have no possible deterrent effect on officers. There is no need to resort to exclusion, which is the "last resort." Evans, 514 U.S. at 10-11. Instead, the good faith exception should be applied, and the circuit court's decision denying Wiederin's suppression motion should be affirmed.

⁵ In *Prado*, this Court concluded that the officer in that case could have relied in good faith on the statute because the United States Supreme Court had not yet silently overruled State v. 2002 WI App 314. 258 Wis. 2dWintlend. 875. 745, North 655 N.W.2d in *Birchfield* Dakota, v. 136 S. Ct. 2160 (2016). State v. Prado, 2020 WI App 42, ¶ 71, 393 Wis. 2d 526, 947 N.W2d 182. The Wisconsin Supreme Court granted review, and one of the issues was the proper application of the good faith exception. The State pointed out that under *Illinois* v. Krull, 480 U.S. 340, 347 (1987), an officer can rely in good faith on a statute until the statute is overruled by an appellate court. The State is raising the good faith issue in this case to preserve it in the event the Wisconsin Supreme Court agrees with the State.

Case 2020AP002006 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-02-2021 Page 30 of 33

C. Wiederin's arguments that the good faith exception does not apply are incorrect.

In her brief on appeal, Wiederin asserts that the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule does not apply because the State did not raise the issue in the circuit court, Sergeant Williams did not rely on the unconscious driver provision when he directed that Wiederin's blood be drawn, and this case was argued and brief after *Mitchell v. Wisconsin* was decided. (Wiederin's Br. 20.) None of Wiederin's arguments demonstrate that the good fatih exeption cannot or should not be applied.

Wiederin argues that the State waived the right to argue that the good faith exception applies by not raising the argument in the circuit court, and because Sergeant Williams did not rely on the unconscious driver provision when he directed that Wiederin's blood be drawn. (Wiederin's Br. 20.) Wiederin is correct that Sergeant Williams did not rely on the statute and that the State did not argue in the circuit court that the blood draw was justified by the implied consent law, or that the good faith exception should be applied. But when defending a circuit court decision on appeal, the State is permitted to argue for affirmance under any theory that supports the circuit court's decision. State v. Earl, 2009 WI App 99, ¶18 n.8, 320 Wis. 2d 639, 770 N.W.2d 755 ("On appeal, we may affirm on different grounds than those relied on by the trial court.").

Additionally, as the Wisconsin Supreme recognized in State v. Howes, and the United States Supreme Court recognized in *Mitchell v. Wisconsin*, the issue in a case in which a search is challenged is whether the search was lawful—not whether it is lawful under a particular theory. In Howes, the Wisconsin Supreme Court concluded that a justified warrantless blood draw was bv exigent circumstances, even though the State had argued that the

Case 2020AP002006 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-02-2021 Page 31 of 33

unconscious driver provision, not exigency, justified the blood draw. *Howes*, 373 Wis. 2d 468, ¶¶ 1, 3 & n.4. And in *Mitchell*, the United States' Supreme Court reached the same conclusion. *Mitchell*, 139 S. Ct. at 2534 n.2. As the Supreme Court recognized, the issue is whether the search was justified, so the Court reached an issue that would otherwise have been waived. Id.

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